THE HOUSE ON PHILBRICK HILL

One of Danville’s earliest old homes can be found majestically sited on a hill on the south side of Sandown Road.  Intrigue pervades this stately colonial style home, not only about its historical significance, location and orchestral beauty, but also about the family that lived in it for two centuries.

The exact construction date of the house on Philbrick Hill has been debated because some say parts of it date back to 1648.  We do know that a recorded survey done in 1754 shows that the property was owned by  Jeremiah Philbrick at the time the measuring was done.  Jeremiah was a fourth generation descendant of Thomas Philbrick, who came to Salem, Massachusetts from Lincolnshire, England in 1630 with his two sons.  Thomas later moved to Hampton, New Hampshire.  The Town is fortunate to have a narrative about the house, which was written in the 1940’s by Roger Philbrick, one of the last members of the family to live in the house.  His historical tale tells us that Jeremiah Philbrick was one of the founders of Kingston.  The King of England had given the Hampton Colony a tract of land extending 10 miles into the wilderness and in 1720 Kingston decided to divide its share of this wilderness tract into 63 lots.  Jeremiah Philbrick, then a resident of Kingston, drew the 6th lot for the land where the Philbrick house now sits in Danville.

It does not appear that the Philbricks were actively involved in the town’s separation from Kingston and the establishment of Danville (then Hawke) as an independent community.  Yet records indicate they were patriots and the original town center in and around the Old Meting House was apparently near and dear to them.  Jebediah Philbrick was a Paymaster in the Revolutionary War.  Josiah Philbrick served on the Town’s original Parsonage Committee, helping to oversee the community forest lots, in 1812, 1813 and 1815.  Andrew J. Philbrick had the honor of being chosen as the first President of the Old Meeting House Association when that group was established on August 27, 1911 for the purposes of preservation of the Old Meeting House, support of an annual religious service and the promotion of an interest in any historical place or event in the town.  The Philbrick family gained some notoriety and national recognition in 1952 when Herbert Philbrick authored the book, I Led Three Lives, recounting his activities in the 1940’s as a volunteer American undercover agent within the Communist Party for the FBI.  In Boston, where Herbert led three lives as an FBI informant, a Communist Party member and private citizen, the Mayor proclaimed a Herbert Philbrick Day and presented him with a plaque honoring his service to the country.

The hill on which the Philbrick house is located has been designated as the highest point in Rockingham County and until recent years, a marker on the property memorialized this fact.  The sweeping view of rolling fields from the lovely gardens at the back of the house and a panoramic view of the Nottingham Mountains to the north from the front of the house certainly seem to document that the hill is high.

Constructed of foot-square timbers and oak rafters, the Philbrick house has weathered the centuries well.  In the 1940’s the house passed out of the Philbrick family for the first time.  The subsequent owners, Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Stubbs undertook substantial renovation, including restoration of wide pine floor boards and uncovering of early stencils.  The home is now occupied by Bob and Ellen Kent, who are bringing their own touches to this old home.  The Philbrick house, with its historical importance and gracious location, continues to be an important reminder of Danville’s heritage.
